
 

 
 

APPOINTMENTS AND 
DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE  

 
 

22 April 2024 
 

11.30 am 
 

Studio, 3rd floor Annexe, Town Hall 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact 
Sandra Hancock  
democraticservices@watford.gov.uk   
01923 278377 
 
For information about attending meetings please visit the council’s website. 
 
 
 

Publication date: 11 April 2024 

mailto:democraticservices@watford.gov.uk
https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20017/councillors_and_decision_making/163/can_i_attend_a_committee


 

 

Committee Membership 
 
Councillor M Watkin (Chair) 
Councillor A Saffery (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors R Martins, J Dhindsa and I Stotesbury 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A - Open to the Public 
 
1. Committee membership / Apologies  
 
2. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 
 The Chair to move: that, under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 

1972, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business as it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the 
nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were present during 
consideration of the item there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Section 100(1) of the Act for the reasons stated below in 
terms of Schedule 12A. 
 

3. Appointment of Monitoring Officer (Pages 3 - 21) 
 
 The Cabinet report, and its appendices, from the meeting held on 5 February are 

attached for background information.   
 
The role profile is also included. 
 
The remainder of the item is exempt from publication in accordance with 
Paragraph 1, Schedule 12A, under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 as it is concerning an individual. 
 



 

 
Report to:  Cabinet 
 
Date of meeting: 5 February 2024 
 
Report author: Chief Executive   
 
Title:   Delivering a balanced Medium Term Financial Strategy  

Review of senior management structure at Watford Borough Council 
 
 
1.0 Overview 
 
1.1 In response to the Council’s budget challenges, this report sets out proposals for a new 

senior management structure for the Council.   

1.2 The Council is facing significant financial pressures primarily driven by external pressures 
including, inflationary pressures in pay and contracts, and increasing demand for services.  
In addition, the Council has seen a 50% cut in real-term un-ringfenced grant funding over 
the last 10 years.  These pressures have created a significant budget deficit in the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  As a result, the Council is undertaking a 
programme of efficiency reviews and service redesigns, which will continue throughout the 
remainder of the MTFS.  As part of this programme, a comprehensive review of senior 
management functions driven by the need to meet our budget deficit has been 
undertaken.  Budget efficiencies from this review will be used to meet the budget deficit in 
the MTFS. 

1.3 In addition to the significant financial pressures facing the Council, it is going through times 
of unprecedented pressure and change.  There are macro trends such as sustainability, an 
ageing population, inequality, increasing digitalisation, the levelling up/devolution agenda, 
health and care reform, increasing numbers of asylum seekers, the crisis in Ukraine and 
Gaza/Israel, and ever-changing community expectations for which councils must be 
prepared.     

 
1.4 Local government has a key role to play in contributing to a response to these issues and 

the Council must ensure that it is, as far as possible, appropriately resourced to remain 
relevant to the community of Watford.  Further, the role the Council has as a leader of 
place has never been so important; it is not enough simply to make decisions on Council 
services and oversee their effective delivery, the Council must also shape, convene and 
strategically lead other partners in Watford and beyond to secure the best outcomes for 
our community and address the unprecedented challenges the entire public and voluntary 
services system is facing.  However, within the context of significant budget challenges and 
the erosion of the financial stability of local government, this is extremely challenging. 

 
1.5 The restructuring proposals set out in this report will seek to deliver as best we can in the 

current environment against these global challenges, the changing policy landscape for 
local government, our role as leader of place as well our ambitious four-year Council Plan.  

 
  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

1.6 The proposed new organisational and reporting structure is for the second and third 
management tiers at the Council.  It creates two substantive directorates, one headed by 
an Executive Director, the other by a Director, with each supported by three Associate 
Directors.  The structure also assigns the role of Monitoring Officer as an additional duty to 
an existing member of the Corporate Management Team.    

 
1.7 The proposed structure deletes the role of Executive Director of Corporate, Housing & 

Wellbeing Services (vacant), and two Executive Head roles introduced in 2022.  The Council 
was unable to appoint a suitable candidate to the role of Executive Director of Corporate, 
Housing & Wellbeing Services and consequently two Executive Heads have been acting up 
to a Director level in the intervening period. 

 
1.8 The proposed new structure also deletes the role of Group Head of Democracy & 

Governance (the postholder currently discharges the statutory role of Monitoring Officer). 
 
1.9 Staff below these management tiers are not directly impacted by these proposed changes, 

although some may have a new line manager.  
 
1.10 The roles of the Executive Head of Human Resources & Organisational Development and 

the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) are not impacted by the proposed changes.   
 
1.11  Consultation with Unison has been undertaken and there are no objections to these 

proposals; and advice from the Executive Head of Human Resources & Organisational 
Development has informed this report. 

 
2.  Risks  
 
2.1  

Nature of risk Consequence Suggested Control 
Measures 

Response 
(treat, tolerate, 
terminate or 
transfer) 

Risk Rating 
(combination of 
severity and 
likelihood) 

The Council is unable 
to deliver effectively 
its statutory duties, 
Council Plan and 
Mayoral objectives 

The Council suffers a 
loss of reputation 

Reset KPIs, service 
standards and Delivery 
Plan 2024-2026.  
Redeploy capacity to 
provide additional 
business support  

Treat 3x3=9 

The Council does not 
provide adequate 
employee 
development and 
succession planning 

Key staff will leave The Council continues to 
provide opportunities for 
development and has 
protected the corporate 
training budget  

Treat 3x3=9 

The Council is unable 
to retain staff  

The Council Plan and 
Delivery Plan may not be 
able to be delivered, 
putting a strain on 
senior officers left within 
the Council 

Culture, remuneration 
packages and 
development 
opportunities remain 
under review 

Treat 3x3=9 

Consultation is not 
carried out as 
required by 
employment rules 

The Council is 
challenged for breach of 
procedure or 
employment law 
requirements 

Ensure proper 
consultation with trade 
unions and staff 

Treat 2x4=8 

Costs of 
implementation 

Council finances become 
stretched impacting the 
MTFS and potentially 

Exit arrangements have 
been agreed   

Treat 2x3=6 

Page 4



 

exceed budget 
provision 

requiring savings to be 
found elsewhere 

Affected staff make 
employment tribunal 
claims 

Affects the Council’s 
reputation as an 
employer and has 
financial consequences 
whether or not the 
employee is successful 

Ensure compliance with all 
contractual obligations 
and complete necessary 
agreements 

Treat 2x3=6 

 
3. Recommendations  
 
 Cabinet is asked to: 

 
1. Approve the deletion of the following roles: 

 

 Group Head of Democracy and Governance 

 Executive Director of Corporate, Housing & Wellbeing Services 

 Executive Head of Strategy & Initiatives (Partnerships & Community)  

 Executive Head of Strategy & Initiatives (Sustainability & Culture) 
 

2. Approve the permanent establishment of the role of Director of Performance & 
Partnerships. 
 

3. In regard to the Council’s Monitoring Officer: 
 

a. Agree the assignment of the statutory role of Monitoring Officer to the duties of 
an existing member of Corporate Management Team 

b. Note that following an internal recruitment process, a recommendation to 
appoint a new Monitoring Officer will be made to Annual Council in May 2024. 

 

4. Note the realignment of services following the deletion of the posts referenced at 
recommendation 1 above. 

 
5. Approve the adoption of the new senior management structure as set out in Appendix 

1. 
 

6. Agree to delegate all related constitutional changes, including the scheme of 
delegation, to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
  

Further information: 
 Donna Nolan  
 donna.nolan@watford.gov.uk  
 Tel: 01923 278185 
 
4. Detailed proposal 
 
4.1 Background 
 
4.1.1 Watford Borough Council has always managed its council finances extremely well, by 

growing income streams and tax bases, building resilience through reserves, managing 

Page 5



 

demand, integrating services, moving to new delivery models, sharing and digitising 
services.  As such, it has not previously been necessary to consider significantly reducing 
what the Council provides.  However, the Council is not immune to the current financial 
crisis facing local government and must take steps to balance its budget over the period of 
the MTFS.  To achieve this, the Council must reduce its cost base, and part of the drive to 
achieve this involves considering changes to the senior management structure. 

 
4.1.2 The Council is required to serve its residents in the most cost effective and efficient way, 

delivering its duty of best value and responding appropriately to its external and internal 
context.  That requires a continual reassessment of the manner in which its resources are 
organised.  Within the context of the current budget deficit such an assessment has been 
undertaken. 

 
4.1.3 Under the Local Government & Housing Act 1989, it is the responsibility of the Head of 

Paid Service (the Chief Executive) to prepare a report for the authority when considered 
appropriate setting out proposals as to the: 

 

 manner in which the authority will co-ordinate their functions  

 number and grades of staff required by the authority for the discharge of their 
functions 

 organisation of the authority’s staff 

 appointment and proper management of the authority’s staff. 
 
4.1.4 Whilst a senior management review was carried out in early 2022, this was before the UK’s 

fiscal outlook materially worsened in November 2022 significantly challenging the 
deliverability of the Council’s MTFS.  Given the impact of low growth, high inflation and the 
cost of living crisis on the Council, the current management team organisational designs 
and structures require re-assessment.    

 
4.1.5 In viewing the following proposals, Cabinet will be aware that the Council is required to 

have a number of statutory officers: 
 

• Head of Paid Service, currently held by the Chief Executive  
• Monitoring Officer, currently held by the Group Head of Democracy and 

Governance  
• Section 151 Officer, currently held by the Chief Finance Officer 
• Returning Officer, currently held by the Chief Executive. 

  
These are specific roles the Council must have.  Whilst it is possible for officers within those 
posts to be shared with other authorities, the arrangement is different to that of a shared 
service in that for the purposes of performing their statutory roles they are formally 
seconded to the authority under s113 of the Local Government Act 1972.  It should be 
noted that apart from the Monitoring Officer these roles are not impacted by the proposed 
restructure. 

 
4.2 Rationale for restructure and proposals 
 

Page 6



 

4.2.1 The Chief Executive and Executive Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development have undertaken a comprehensive review of the senior management 
structure.  The review included consideration of the: 

 

 Challenging budget situation 

 Alignment of the strategic leadership team with the structure, having regard to 
reporting lines and direct reports, including cost and efficiency 

 Issues of strategic capacity and resilience, having regard to key council priorities 

 Service and operational structures and alignment where issues need to be 
addressed 

 Challenges of recruitment, retention and succession planning for the Council and 
local government more generally 

 Competencies and behaviours the Council expects from its officer leaders and 
senior managers. 

  
4.2.2 The review concluded that, if the Council continued to operate in the same way and with 

the current structure, it could not deliver a balanced budget.  In addition, and with the 
context of organisational voluntary redundancy, not reviewing the management structure 
could have an adverse impact on staff morale and commitment, as well as the delivery of 
key front line services, as set out at paragraph 4.3.1. 

 
4.2.3 The review also concluded that the authority must seek to retain the benefit of the work 

completed in 2022 which created a blueprint for building succession into the organisation 
and developing and retaining its future leaders, as well as setting a consistent foundation 
of behaviours (competencies) and values to recruitment and performance management 
across the second and third tiers of the organisation.  This framework is delivering benefits 
and, as the recent LGA Corporate Peer Challenge recognised, the cultural change has led to 
standards being raised for the benefit of the local community. 

 
4.2.4 The proposed changes were also assessed within the context of the wider agenda for local 

government, including the government’s plans for greater devolution and Levelling Up.  
These require the Council to continue to prepare for greater partnership working locally, 
regionally and nationally.  It is therefore critical that the Council retains senior leaders with 
well-developed strategic, critical and systems thinking skills and competencies who can 
work corporately to meet a range of complex and dynamic challenges. 

 
4.3 Restructure proposals 
 
4.3.1 Whilst the proposals will significantly diminish corporate capacity by reducing the Strategic 

Leadership Team from five posts to three, it is considered that an alternative strategy to 
achieve a comparable level of saving – equivalent to the deletion of approximately six Band 
6 posts – would have a far greater detrimental impact on the delivery of services for the 
communities of Watford. 

 
4.3.2 The proposed senior management structure seeks to retain an agile organisational 

arrangement with clear spans of control and oversight.  With the introduction in 2023 of 
the new Service Delivery Leads, it is hoped that despite the significant reduction in 
corporate capacity there will remain sufficient capacity at a senior and middle 
management level to lead service improvement and drive change in the organisation.  The 

Page 7



 

proposed structure also builds on the established model that the Council’s resources are 
viewed as a whole with the senior management structure part of an inter-connected 
system linked to the Council’s other staff and the Council’s shared values. 

 
4.3.3 The new Strategic Leadership Team will operate within two tiers: 
 

Tier 1 The Chief Executive 
 
Tier 2 Executive Director of Place  
 Director of Performance & Partnerships  
 
The Council’s Monitoring Officer, Executive Head of HR & OD (shared with Three Rivers 
District Council) and Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer (seconded to Watford for 
80% of her time) will report directly to the Chief Executive.   
 
The role of Monitoring Officer will be internally advertised, with the proposal that it is 
added as an additional duty to an existing member of the Corporate Management Team.  It 
is also proposed that the Monitoring Officer will appoint a legally qualified Deputy 
Monitoring Officer as part of a shared services arrangement.  The Chief Finance 
Officer/Section 151 Officer will continue to report to the Director of Finance at Three 
Rivers District Council in accordance with shared service arrangements in relation to 
responsibilities for delivery of the shared finance service with Three Rivers (20% of role). 
 
This approach will ensure that the Council remains fully compliant with its statutory duties, 
though the impact of not having a full time Monitoring Officer or a full time directly 
employed Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 will inevitably impact on the strategic 
leadership capacity of the Council in the ever changing and increasingly complex operating 
environment for local government. 
 

4.3.4 The Corporate Management Team will incorporate the above officers plus a further tier of 
six senior officers, three reporting to the Executive Director of Place and three to the 
Director of Performance & Partnerships: 

  
 Tier 3 Associate Director of Property & Asset Management  
  Associate Director of Environment & Communities  
  Associate Director of Planning, Infrastructure & Economy  
   

Associate Director of Customer & Corporate Services  
Associate Director of ICT & Shared Services  
Associate Director of Housing & Wellbeing 

  
The role of Monitoring Officer will be internally advertised, with the proposal that it is 
added as an additional duty to an existing member of the Corporate Management Team.  It 
is also proposed that the Monitoring Officer will appoint a legally qualified Deputy 
Monitoring Officer as part of a shared services arrangement. 

  
4.3.5 Discussions have taken place with Corporate Management Team regarding the option of 

adding the statutory role of Monitoring Officer to the responsibilities of an existing team 
member.  It is understood that there is interest in this opportunity.  In view of this, and as it 

Page 8



 

is anticipated that no new appointments will be required, there is confidence that the 
Council’s senior leaders will comprise strategic thinkers with the ability to take on cross-
cutting corporate issues and to maintain collective responsibility for organisational 
challenges and opportunities, albeit with considerably reduced strategic capacity. 

 
4.4 Financial costs/funding arrangements 
 
4.4.1 The key and sole driver for the restructure is to contribute to savings required to manage 

the MTFS.  
 
4.4.2 Annual savings from the reduction in the Corporate Management Team are around 

£257,000.   
 
4.4.3 The salary ranges in respect of the Corporate Management Team are not changed as a 

result of these proposals and are unchanged since the review in 2022.  
 
4.4.4 Following a market assessment undertaken by the Executive Head of HR & OD, it is 

recommended that an addition to salary of up to £6,000 per annum be awarded to the 
member of the Corporate Management Team confirmed by Full Council as Monitoring 
Officer.  The addition to salary is to reflect the extra responsibility and accountability 
relating to the discharge of the statutory role of Monitoring Officer.  

 
4.5 Implementation arrangements and effective dates 
 
4.5.1 There are no new appointments and therefore the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 

(England) Regulations 2001 (as amended) does not apply. 
 
4.5.2    The Council is also required by sections 38-43 of the Localism Act 2011 to publish a Pay 

Policy Statement by the 31 March for the next financial year setting out the remuneration 
levels, all other payments, severance and retirement of Chief Officers and this must be 
approved by Full Council.  The current pay policy statement approved by Council in March 
2023 will need to be amended to reflect the proposed new structure and levels of 
remuneration indicated in this report and appendices.  The new structures will form part of 
the next Pay Policy Statement. 

 
4.5.3 The Council’s Human Resources procedures have been applied and appropriate 

agreements reached with the Group Head of Democracy and Governance, and the 
Executive Head of Strategy & Initiatives (Partnerships & Community). 
 

4.5.4 The realignment of services currently managed by the Executive Head of Strategy & 
Initiatives (Partnerships & Community) will take effective from 1 February 2024, and from 
that date the postholder will work with the Chief Executive on identified projects.   
 

4.5.5 The realignment of services currently managed by the Group Head of Democracy and 
Governance, with the exception of elections, will also take effect between 1 February and 1 
May.   
 

Page 9



 

4.5.6 The termination date of employment for both the Executive Head of Strategy & Initiatives 
(Partnerships & Community) and the Group Head of Democracy and Governance will be 31 
May 2024. 

 
4.5.7 There is no requirement for formal consultation with staff relating to the restructure.  

However, all of the Corporate Management Team have been engaged in the proposals and 
staff who will have new managers have been briefed and provided with the opportunity to 
discuss matters.  In addition, Unison has been engaged throughout and has no objection to 
the position outlined in this report. 

 
4.6 Appendices  
 
4.6.1 The following appendices are attached to this report: 

 
Appendix 1: New senior management structure 
Appendix 2: Equality Impact Assessment 
 

5. Implications 
 
5.1 HR/OD 
 
5.1.1 The Executive Head of HR & OD comments there is no requirement for formal consultation 

with staff relating to the restructure.  The Corporate Management Team has been engaged 
in the proposals and staff who will have new managers have been briefed and provided 
with the opportunity to discuss matters.  In addition, Unison has been engaged throughout 
and has no objection to the position outlined in this report. 

 
5.2 Financial 
 
5.2.1 The Chief Finance Officer comments that the savings delivered by the structure outlined 

make a significant contribution to the service redesign savings included within the budget 
for 2024/25. 

 
5.3 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer) 
 

The Group Head of Democracy and Governance comments that as is stated in the report 
the Head of Paid Service has a legal obligation under the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 to report on the appropriate structure for the organisation. Cabinet has the 
delegated power to determine the structure of the Organisation (including approving 
restructuring) and the overall number of posts for exercising all Council functions.  Also as 
stated in the report it is a legal requirement under section 5 of the 1989 to appoint a 
Monitoring Officer the obligations under section 5 are as set out in appendix 2. 
 

5.4 Equalities, Human Rights and Data Protection 
 
5.4.1 An equality impact analysis on the new structure has been undertaken and is attached as 

Appendix 2 to this report. 
 

Page 10



 

5.4.2 Having had regard to the Council’s obligations under the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) 2018, it is considered that officers are not required to undertake a Data 
Processing Impact Assessment (DPIA) for this report. 

 
Background papers 
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy  

Page 11



SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

Peter Hall 
Associate Director of 

Property & Asset 
Management

Liam Hornsby 
Associate Director of 

Customer & 
Corporate Services

Emma Tiernan 
Associate Director of 
ICT & Shared Services

Ben Martin 
Associate Director of 

Planning, 
Infrastructure & 

Economy

Paul Stacey 
Associate Director of 

Environment & 
Communities

Alan Gough
Director of Performance 

& Partnerships

Monitoring Officer 
(vacant from 1 June 

2024)

Lee Pound
Executive Head of 

HR & OD

Justine Hoy 
Associate Director of 
Housing & Wellbeing

Hannah Doney
Chief Finance Officer & 

Section 151 Officer

Tom Dobrashian
Executive Director of 

Place

Donna Nolan
Chief Executive

 

Page 12



 

 

 

 

 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
Senior Management Restructure 

 
 
 

 
VERSION CONTROL 

 
 

Date 
 

Version 
 

Author 
Description of 
Changes 

24.12.23 1 Donna Nolan  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 13



 

 

 

WATFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 

Department Corporate Services  Lead officer responsible for assessment Donna Nolan 

Service Senior Leadership Team Other members of team undertaking 
assessment 

Lee Pound 

Date 234/12/2023 Version 1  

Type of document (mark as appropriate) Strategy Plan Function Policy Procedure Service 

Is this a new / existing / revision of an 
existing document (mark as appropriate) 

New Existing Revision 

Title and subject of the impact 
assessment (include a brief description 
of the aims, outcomes, operational 
issues as appropriate and how it fits in 
with the wider aims of the organisation) 

 

Please attach a copy of the strategy / plan 
/ function / policy / procedure / service 

The proposed Senior Management Restructure will realign the corporate management team in response to the Council’s 
budget challenges. 

 

The final draft proposals include recommendations to delete the posts of Group Head of Democracy and Governance, Executive 
Director of Corporate, Housing and Wellbeing Services, Executive Head of Strategy & Initiatives (Partnerships & Community) and 
Executive Head of Strategy & Initiatives (Sustainability & Culture). 
 
Full details are included in the Cabinet report and appendices.  An equality impact assessment is required to assess the impact 
of the proposed permanent changes to the posts within the senior management structure. 

Who are the main stakeholders and have 
they been engaged with? 
(e.g. general public, employees, 
Councillors, partners, specific audiences, 
residents) 

Chief Executive, Cabinet, Full Council, Unison, the affected staff group in corporate management team. 
 

Informal consultation has taken place with affected staff, the Chief Executive, HR and OD, Unison and members of the 
opposition group.   
 
If the proposals are approved, formal and ongoing consultation will continue with these groups and individuals. 

Stage 1 – Description: Fact finding (about the policy / service) 

Page 14



 

 

 

What consultation method(s) did you use? An informal consultation period with the affected staff and the trade union has been ongoing since October 2023.  This 
comprises group and individual consultation meetings with affected staff and with trade union representatives.  As the 
postholders have agreed voluntary severance arrangements under Settlement Agreement no formal consultation is required, 
though the affected staff have the benefit of independent legal advice.  
 

 

 
  

Page 15



 

 

 

 
 

 
Who is affected and what evidence 
have you considered to arrive at this 
analysis? 
(This may or may not include the 
stakeholders listed above) 

The posts of Group Head of Democracy and Governance, Executive Director of Corporate, Housing and Wellbeing Services, 
Executive Head of Strategy & Initiatives (Partnerships & Community) and Executive Head of Strategy & Initiatives (Sustainability & 
Culture). 
 
The Chief Executive and Executive Head of Human Resources & Organisational Development undertook a comprehensive review of 
the senior management structure.  
 

Who is intended to benefit and how? The proposals are intended to help the council manage its Medium Term Financial Strategy, but also with a view to succession 
building in the organisation and the development and retention of the council’s future leaders.   
 

Could there be a different impact or 
outcome for some groups? 

No 

Does it include making decisions based 
on individual characteristics, needs or 
circumstances? 

No, as it affects the posts not the person. 

Are relations between different 
groups or communities likely to be 
affected? (eg will it favour one 
particular group or deny opportunities 
for others?) 

No, aspects of the roles will be redistributed within the remaining senior management structure. Full details are included in the Cabinet 
report and appendices. 

Is there any specific targeted action to 
promote equality? Is there a history of 
unequal outcomes (do you have 
enough evidence to prove otherwise)? 

No 

Stage 2 - Initial Screening 

Page 16



 

 

 

Is there an actual or potential negative impact on these specific characteristics? (Please tick) 

Age Y N Marriage & civil partnership Y N Religion & belief Y N 

Disability Y N Pregnancy & maternity Y N Sex Y N 

Gender reassignment Y N Race Y N Sexual orientation Y N 

What evidence do you have to support your findings? (quantitative and qualitative) Please provide additional information that you wish to include 
as appendices to this document, i.e., graphs, tables, charts 
 

As set out in the Cabinet paper and appendices. 
 
Following implementation of the new structure, some reporting lines may change for staff on levels below tiers 2 and 3.  

Consultation/ 
involvement carried 
out 

 Yes No 

Age Does this service provide any impact for different age groups? If so what is this?  No 

Disability Does this service provide any impact for disabilities? If so what is this?  No 

Gender reassignment Does this service provide any impact for those who have undergone gender reassignment? If so 
what is this? 

 No 

Marriage & civil partnership Does this service provide any impact for people who are married or have a civil partner?  No 

Pregnancy & maternity Does this service provide any impact for women who are pregnant or on maternity leave?  No 

Race Does this service provide any impact for people from a particular race? If so what is this?  No 

Religion & belief Does this service provide any impact for people from different faith groups? If so what is this?  No 

Sex Does this service provide any impact for men or women? If so what is this?  No 

Sexual orientation Does this service provide any impact for people who are gay, lesbian etc.? If so what is this?  No 

 

Page 17



 

 

 

Proceed to full impact assessment? (Please tick) Yes No Date 
24 December 2023  

 

Lead officer sign off Donna Nolan Date 24 December 20203 

Head of service sign off Lee Pound Date 2 January 2024 

 

If yes, proceed to Stage 3.  If no, publish the initial screening as part of the suite of documents relating to this issue  

Page 18



 January 2024 
 

 

 

Role Title:  Monitoring Officer   

Service Area:   

Band:    

Reporting to: Chief Executive  

Responsible for:   

Our leaders will be collaborative, open, influential, strategic, and creative.  They will build coalitions to drive a 
culture of innovation and achieve excellent results.  They will show an affinity with our values, and take pride in 
making our borough an inspiring, thriving, and creative place to live, work and visit. 
 
You will: 

 

 Champion good governance within the council, including keeping the council’s constitution up to date.  

 Ensure that all decisions made by the council are lawful, including ensuring that the council receives 
appropriate legal advice in a timely manner to promote high standards of decision making. 

 Be responsible for upholding high standards of behaviour amongst members and officers, including 
having oversight of the council’s code of conduct for councillors, keeping the code under review, training 
members on the code and ensuring any complaints are investigated. 

 Together with the Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer speak truth to power. 

 Liaise with the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and report to Cabinet and or Council any 
findings of fault causing injustice. 

 In accordance with the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, support the Associate Director of Environment and 
Communities to deliver new robust approaches to discharge the Council’s civil emergencies and business 
continuity duties. 

 
The Council is committed to becoming carbon neutral by 2030.  You will ensure that all services and initiatives are 
compatible with, promote and support that ambition. 
 

 Champion our core values to enable our people to flourish in a dynamic and agile workplace where they 
are able to be their very best. 

 Embed all elements of Reimaging Watford across your services, ensuring the adoption of hybrid-working 
practices and the creation of a culture of innovation and creativity. 

 Ensure that the council has adequate management arrangements for Health and Safety, in accordance 
with the council’s policy and in line with its legal obligations, and demonstrate effective governance. 

 Ensure the organisation understands and complies with the council’s constitution, regularly keep it under 
review, and with the Constitution Working Party, make any recommendations for change to council as 
required. 

 Have a detailed understanding of the Council, committee and Cabinet procedure rules and be able to give 
all assistance to members and officers on their interpretation and implementation. 

 Attend full Council and Cabinet and such other committees of the council as is required or arrange for 
attendance by an appropriately qualified substitute. 

Purpose 

 

Key Responsibilities 

Role Profile 

Page 19



 January 2024 
 

 Be responsible for ensuring the council acts within its legal powers, ensuring that all decision makers have 
early access to legal advice and that reports to Council, Cabinet and committees have been seen and 
commented on by a solicitor or barrister before they are published. 

 Ensure that Council, Cabinet, and committees are attended by a solicitor or barrister where necessary. 

 Ensure that all claims made against the council are passed to the legal shared service in a timely manner 
and liaise with the legal shared service to ensure they are being managed. 

 Be responsible for keeping the council’s seal and making decisions on whether a document needs to be 
sealed. 

 Be the council’s proper officer for the purposes of the constitution. 

 Uphold high standards of governance. 

 Have a close working relationship with the Shared Internal Audit Service, the Shared Fraud Team, the 
Chief Finance Officer, and the council’s external auditors. 

 Liaise with the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman on the investigation of complaints 
received by them. Ensure timely responses to their enquiries from services and co-ordinate the response. 
Act on any recommendations in liaison with the service to which the complaint relates ensuring the 
Ombudsman is kept up to date. Formally report to either Cabinet or Council as appropriate any findings of 
fault causing injustice. 

 Take the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s annual letter to corporate management board 
and audit committee. 

 Promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members, having regard to the council’s code of 
conduct for councillors and the Nolan Principles. Keep the code under review. Regularly train members on 
the code.  

 Receive any complaints about member conduct and deal with them in accordance with the council’s 
procedures. Keep the complaints log up to date and publicise how a complaint will be dealt with.  

 Be responsible for ensuring the council has sufficient independent persons to liaise with in relation to 
member complaints. 

 Be the lead officer for the Standards Committee. 

 Be the lead officer for the Constitution Working Party. 

 Be a member of the Corporate Management Team 

 Be a member of the Statutory Officers Group. 

 Hold the register of members’ pecuniary interests and ensure that it is kept up to date and published on 
the web. 

 Keep the register of members’ gifts and hospitality 

 Keep the register of officers’ gifts and hospitality. 

 Compile the list of related party transactions for senior officers and members every January for the 
external auditor. 

 Sign off with the chief finance officer the annual governance statement. 

 Annually publish the percentage of electors required to trigger a referendum to change the mayoral 
model of governance. 

 You may be required to undertake duties on behalf of the Electoral Registration Officer and/or the 
Returning Officer relating to the registration of electors and the organisation of elections i.e., 
processing postal votes, canvassing properties during office hours. 

 You may also be required to undertake duties to help to deliver council services during times of local or 
national emergencies. This may include duties outside your usual role and/or at a different location.  

 

 A good grounding in Local Government Law. 

 A thorough knowledge of the elected mayoral and cabinet model of governance. 

 A detailed knowledge of the council’s constitution, including meeting procedure rules, contract procedure 
rules and the code of conduct for councillors. 

 The ability to problem solve, and think laterally. 

Specific Knowledge, Skills and Expertise 

Page 20



 January 2024 
 

 High ethical standards of behaviour. 

 Political nous. 

 Ability to engender trust from members of all political groups. 

 Be able to give training. 

 Not be afraid to speak truth to power. 

 Excellent communication skills. 

 Be able to think on your feet. 

 

Chief Executive 
Chief Finance Officer 
Fellow Corporate Management Team members 
All councillors and the Elected Mayor 
Legal shared service 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
Independent persons 
Internal Audit Service 
External Auditor 
Internal Fraud Service 
Other officers across the council 
Fellow MOs in Hertfordshire 

Key Relationships 

Page 21


	Agenda
	3 Appointment of Monitoring Officer
	Appendix 1 - New senior management structure
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment
	Role of the Monitoring Officer


